Martin P. Sheehan,
Trustee of the Bankruptcy Estate
of Ronald L. Lancaster and
Jamie L. Lancaster,
Petitioner

v.

Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, Inc., WEI Mortgage Corporation, and Seneca Trustee, Inc., Respondents

# BRIEF OF PETITIONER, MARTIN P. SHEEHAN, TRUSTEE OF THE BANKRUPTCY ESTATE OF RONALD L. LANCASTER AND JAMIE L. LANCASTER

A Certified Question from the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Northern District of West Virginia

Martin P. Sheehan, Esq. W.Va. Bar No. 4812

Sheehan & Associates, PLLC 1 Community St. Suite 200 Wheeling, WV 26003 (304) 232-1064 (304) 23201066 SheehanBankruptcy@WVDSL.net

#

# QUESTION PRESENTED

Does a creditor have a perfected security interest in a manufactured home that has been affixed to real estate based on the factors in Snuffer v. Spangler, 79 W.Va. 628, 92 S.E.2d 106 (1917) when it properly records a deed of trust that describes both the real estate and the manufactured home, even though the manufactured home has an active certificate of title issued by the West Virginia [Division] of Motor Vehicles pursuant to W.Va. Code § 17A-3-12, which certificate of title 1) has not been cancelled pursuant to W.Va. Code § 17A-3-12b and 2) does not show the creditor's lien on its face, particularly in light of W.Va. Code § 46-9-303(b), to cause the manufactured home to be treated as a fixture?

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 27, 2020, Ronald L. Lancaster and his spouse, Jamie L. Lancaster, filed for Chapter 7 bankruptcy relief in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Northern District of West Virginia. In conformance with 11 U.S.C. § 701, Martin P. Sheehan, a member of the panel of private trustees maintained by the United States Trustee under 28 U.S.C. § 586(a)(1), was designated as the Interim Trustee.

A meeting of creditors, provided for in 11 U.S.C. § 341, was held on November 20, 2018. When no other person was elected as Trustee at that meeting, Mr. Sheehan became the permanent Trustee pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 702(d).

Among the assets listed by Mr. and Mrs. Lancaster on Schedule A/B attached to the bankruptcy petition was the following: "Double wide with land." (J.A. at 22). This asset, the double wide and the land, was listed as having a fair market value of \$87,770.00.

When the Trustee examined this asset as it had been listed, the Trustee came to believe that what had been listed as a single asset, a piece of real estate with a double wide, was in fact two assets, a piece of real estate and a piece of personal property, the double wide. Mr. Sheehan specifically observed that no one had caused the double wide, which ordinarily would be considered personal property, but which had been listed by the Debtors as part of the real estate, to be transformed into real estate, as contemplated by the provisions of West Virginia law contained in W.Va. Code § 17A-3-12b.

To vindicate his view, Mr. Sheehan instituted an adversary proceeding against Embrace Home Loans, Inc., the original lender under a Deed of Trust. Also named as defendants were Seneca

Trustees, Inc., the trustee under that same deed of trust, and Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, Inc., an entity named as the nominee beneficiary under that Deed of Trust. (J.A. at 74). WEI Mortgage Corp., at its request, has been substituted for Defendant, Embrace Home Loans, Inc. (J.A. at 121). These entities claimed a valid lien in the double wide solely through the Deed of Trust.

As the Trustee of the Bankruptcy Estate, Mr. Sheehan is defined to have the status of a bone fide purchaser for value at the moment of the filing of the bankruptcy petition, concerning real estate assets per in 11 U.S.C. § 544(a)(3), and the status of a judicial lien creditor at the moment of filing of the bankruptcy petition with respect to personalty per 11 U.S.C. § 544(a)(2). Through this statute, Mr. Sheehan, and other trustees are able to enforce the principle of equal treatment of creditors in a bankruptcy proceeding against a secured creditor who claims that perfection of its secured claim entitles it to the collateral to the exclusion of other creditors, or to the first fruits of the liquidation of such collateral ahead of other creditors.

Mr. Sheehan filed a detailed complaint in the adversary proceeding. That complaint included copies of records on file with the Clerk of the County Commission of Brooke County, including portions of relevant pages from the indices of the records maintained by the Clerk. The indices were included as part of an effort to prove a negative, that is what had not been recorded. As drafted, the Complaint attempted to demonstrate that a DMV-2-TR<sup>1</sup> had not been recorded with the Clerk of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This is a form used by the West Virginia Department of Motor Vehicles to process a request for a titled vehicle to cease being treated as a title vehicle so that it can be attached to real estate and treated as real estate from that moment forward. The form implements the provisions of W.Va. Code § 17A-3-12b. Per that statute, when processed by DMV, a copy is forwarded to the Clerk of the appropriate County Commission for recording.

See, https://transportation.wv.gov/DMV/DMVFormSearch/DMV-2-TR\_cancellation mobile home title - WF.pdf)

County Commission. (J.A. at 77).

In the responsive pleading, most of the Complaint was admitted. (J.A. at 124). The Defendants did not admit that no lien had been recorded on the titles<sup>2</sup> to the double wide. Instead the Defendants claimed a valid lien arose based on the filing of the Deed of Trust. After some discovery occurred, Mr. Sheehan understood that the Defendants had acknowledged that no lien had been recorded on the titles to the double wide maintained by the West Virginia Department of Motor Vehicles. The Trustee moved for summary judgment in the adversary proceeding. (J.A. at 129).

That motion was resisted. Briefs were exchanged. (J.A. at 138, 191). No ruling was made.

Instead a motion for certification of the question at the heart of this dispute was made and granted. The request for certification was granted by this Court on January 30, 2020.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> A double wide has two titles with the same basic Vehicle Identification Number. These differ only with respect to the last alphanumeric character. One of those characters is an "A" while the other one is a "B." Sometimes these are referred to as the "A title" and the "B title."

# SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

For a lender to acquire an interest in collateral that will be valid against third parties, the claim against the collateral must be perfected. The Legislature has provided different systems for perfection of different types of property. Claims against real estate are perfected by filing a deed of trust with the Clerk of the County Commission of the county in which the real estate is located. Liens against most personal property are perfected by filing a financing statement with the Secretary of State. Perfection of claims against some specific types of personal property is governed by specific legislation applicable to such property. Motor vehicles constitute such property.

These systems for perfection are independent. There is no option for a lender to choose how to perfect a lien. Following the statutory scheme for perfection of liens that is applicable to specific property is a prerequisite to a successful claim of perfection. Examination of statutes applicable to perfection of a claim against real estate confirms that perfection against personal property must conform to legislation applicable to personal property. Review of the Uniform Commercial Code demonstrates that statute defers to the Motor Vehicle Code for perfection of claims against motor vehicles.

The possibility that personal property will become affixed to real estate (and the possibility of severance from real estate of what then becomes personalty) is a predictable event that is also part of modern statutory schemes. There is a specific West Virginia statute that describes how a titled motor vehicle may cease to be governed by the Motor Vehicle Code, and become part of real estate.

Compliance with this statute permits a simple and efficient method for determining whether property is, by its nature, a motor vehicle, or if it has lawfully been converted to real estate. This kind of simplicity creates predictability in the law. Predictability leads to lower transaction costs for lending activity

because unnecessary examination of non-applicable systems for perfection are rendered unnecessary.

In this instance, Lenders did not comply with the statutory scheme for perfection of a lien against a double wide, a motor vehicle as defined by West Virginia law. The Bankruptcy Trustee observed the non-compliance, and filed litigation to declare the claimed lien on the double wide had not been properly perfected as required by the Motor Vehicle Code.

This outcome is supported by policy considerations. While permitting a choice of where to perfect a lien might benefit parties to secured loans, the costs associated with ruling out liens that might appear in a variety of places is antithetical to promotion of simple, efficient and inexpensive transactions.

Suggesting a 1917 common law decision remains the applicable rule in all circumstances, given the extensive statutory enactments in the Uniform Commercial Code, and the Motor Vehicle Code is to deprive the Legislature, which has spoken specifically, of the power to change the law.

There is no controlling precedent, but decisions of the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of West Virginia and the United States Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit are highly suggestive of the view advocated by the Trustee.

# STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

This case was scheduled for oral argument by the order of January 30, 2020 accepting the certified question from the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Northern District of West Virginia. Counsel believes that oral argument would be useful because the issue arises in a procedural context, a bankruptcy case, which is outside the ordinary legal proceedings reviewed by this Court, and because the issue appears to have not been previously addressed by this Court in a published opinion.

#### ARGUMENT

# Statutory Analysis

For a lender to acquire an interest in collateral that will be valid against third parties, the claim against the collateral must be perfected. The Legislature has provided different systems for perfection of different types of property.

Voluntarily created liens on real estate in West Virginia are created by recording a Deed of Trust<sup>3</sup> in the real estate records maintained by the Clerk of the County Commission of the County in which the real estate is located.<sup>4</sup> See W.Va. Code § 38-1-1a. That statute provides:

A deed of trust may convey both real property or some interest therein and personal property or only real property or some interest therein or only personal property in order to secure a debt. This article shall apply to deeds of trust that convey real property or some interest therein or both real property or some interest therein and personal property. Deeds of trust conveying only personal property are governed by article nine of chapter forty-six of this code. If the deed of trust conveys both real and personal property, a financing statement as to the personal property shall be required as specified in article nine, chapter forty-six of this code, and the trustee may proceed as to the sale or other disposition of the personal property involved under this article or he may proceed as to the sale or other disposition of both the real and personal property involved under this article. In all other respects this article is applicable to the conveyance of real property by deed of trust, and article nine of chapter forty-six is applicable to the conveyance of personal property by deed of trust.

For purposes of this section, personal property is any property right or interest in which a security interest under article nine of chapter forty-six of this code may be obtained or created.

This statute contemplates that personal property can be part of what is listed in a Deed of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Involuntary liens, such as those created by judgments, are recorded in the same office, but pursuant to a different statutory scheme.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Where real property is in more than one county, recording in each is required. W.Va. Code § 40-1-10.

Trust, but where personalty is included in a Deed of Trust, either alone, or in combination with real estate, filing a Deed of Trust does not perfect the lien on the personal property. Instead, this statute directs compliance with the method of perfection of the lien on personalty in accordance with a different statute. Compliance with the provisions of Article 9 of Chapter 46 of the West Virginia Code, better known as Article 9 of the West Virginia Uniform Commercial Code is required. Transamerica

Commercial Finance Corp. v. Blueville Bank of Grafton, 190 W.Va. 474, 438 S.E.2d 817 (1993).

For most personal property, that statute requires recording of a lien with the West Virginia Secretary of State. W.Va. Code § 46-9-501(a)(2). Peoples Bank of Point Pleasant v. Pied Piper Retreat. Inc., 158 W.Va. 170, 200 S.E.2d 573 (1974).

Vehicles with titles, including a double wide, are different. The Uniform Commercial Code provides, in W.Va. Code § 46-9-303(b) and (c), that a certificate of title is valid until the local law, or the law of the jurisdiction, in either such formulation, under other provisions of West Virginia law, ceases to be effective. The relevant body of law concerning titles on motor vehicles is contained in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> This section provides in full as follows:

<sup>§46-9-303.</sup> Law governing perfection and priority of security interests in goods covered by a certificate of title.

<sup>(</sup>a) Applicability of section. This section applies to goods covered by a certificate of title, even if there is no other relationship between the jurisdiction under whose certificate of title the goods are covered and the goods or the debtor.

<sup>(</sup>b) When goods covered by certificate of title. Goods become covered by a certificate of title when a valid application for the certificate of title and the applicable fee are delivered to the appropriate authority. Goods cease to be covered by a certificate of title at the earlier of the time the certificate of title ceases to be effective under the law of the issuing jurisdiction or the time the goods become covered subsequently by a certificate of title issued by another jurisdiction.

<sup>(</sup>c) Applicable law. The local law of the jurisdiction under whose certificate of title the

W.Va. Code § 17A-4A-1, et seq. which pertains to Motor Vehicle Titles and Liens on such property.

The specific statutory provisions for creating a valid security interest in a motor vehicle are found in W.Va. Code § 17A-4A-3 and W.Va. Code § 17A-4A-4. These statutes cause a lien recorded on the title to a motor vehicle to be effective when tendered to the Department of Motor Vehicles with the appropriate fee. See e.g., Fuller v. Stonewall Casualty Co., 172 W.Va. 193, 198 n.7, 304 S.E.2d 347, 352 n.7 (1983). Liens recorded on titles in this way are superior to all other purported liens. W.Va. Code §17A-4A-5.

As noted, a wholly different set of requirements exists for Deeds of Trust. Liens created by Deeds of Trust are effective when recorded with the Clerk of the County Commission of the county in which the real estate is located. Liens on personalty other than property defined as a motor vehicle, are only effective under the Uniform Commercial Code when a financing statement has been properly filed with the West Virginia Secretary of State.

It appears that a Deed of Trust might include as collateral a vehicle subject to a certificate of title. But the Deed of Trust is not effective as to the titled motor vehicle simply because a Deed of Trust has been recorded with the Clerk of the County Commission describing the vehicle. Instead, as required by W. Va. Code § 38-1-1a, there must be compliance with the provisions of the Uniform Commercial Code. By its own terms that statute defers to the statutes governing liens on titles to motor vehicles. Effectively, for a lien to become perfected on a titled motor vehicle, there must be compliance

goods are covered governs perfection, the effect of perfection or nonperfection, and the priority of a security interest in goods covered by a certificate of title from the time the goods become covered by the certificate of title until the goods cease to be covered by the certificate of title.

with statutes pertaining to the creation, perfection and termination of liens on vehicles.6

A lien created by a Deed of Trust is ineffective until recorded. See W.Va. Code § 40-1-9. A lien created by a recording a lien on a motor vehicle title is ineffective until submitted to the Department of Motor Vehicles for recording. W.Va. Code 17A-4A-4 and W. Va. Code § 46-9-311(a)(2).

In the Trustee's view, a creditor can only become a perfected secured creditor with a claim against a motor vehicle<sup>7</sup> by complying with W.Va. Code § 17A-4A-3. That statute provides that the sole method to perfect a lien on a motor vehicle is by causing a lien to be listed on the title to the motor vehicle.<sup>8</sup>

That did not occur in this instance.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The process of levying on property has not been discussed. Generally speaking that process is undertaken by issuance and execution of writs of fiere facias. W.Va. Code § 38-4-4. But when vehicles are the subject of such writs, the Motor Vehicle Code has specific provisions that apply. W.Va. Code § 17A-4A-9. If a general statement about the law were to be made, it is that the specific statute, the Motor Vehicle Code, is entitled to primacy over other more general statutes, if in conflict.

While the Trustee does not see conflict among these provisions, even if there were conflict, the Trustee would contend that the provisions pertaining to titles on Motor Vehicles are highly specific and controlling. The sole method for perfection of a lien on a motor vehicle, including a double wide, is by recording a lien on the title to the vehicle.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The reference to a double wide is a reference to either a factory built home as defined in W.Va. Code § 17A-1-1(pp) and/or a manufactured home as defined in W.Va. Code § 17A-1-1(qq) and/or a mobile home as defined in W.Va. Code 17A-1-1(rr) and/or a house trailer as defined in W.Va. Code § 17A-1-1(ss). All of the foregoing are vehicles pursuant to W. Va. Code § 17A-1-1(a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> West Virginia Code § 37-15-1, et seq. provides a comprehensive legislative scheme for various problems that can arise when manufactured homes and mobile homes are located within a trailer park. The statute primarily governs the rights of secured lenders, with liens on motor vehicles, on such vehicles where the owner appears to have abandoned the vehicle, W.Va. Code § 37-15-4. It defines the rights and obligations of the trailer park owner, and circumstances by which that person may acquire ownership of an abandoned manufactured home, or mobile home.

The Defendants claim that compliance is not necessary when personal property, including a motor vehicle, and more specifically including a double wide, has become affixed to real estate. This claim depends on the assertion that the personal property in this case had been effectively transformed into real estate, and when so transformed, then the personal property had become subject to a lien following the statutes applicable to liens on real estate.

Circumstances can arise where what has been personal property becomes affixed to real estate. The construction and remodeling of structures, such as houses, from pieces of personalty including lumber, pipes, and electrical wire represents the classic transformation of what had been personal property into realty. This process is predictable.

The notion that a modular home, which comes into being as a vehicle, might be destined for attachment to real estate is a similarly predictable event. Not surprisingly this predictable event is the subject of a specific West Virginia statute. That statute, W. Va. Code § 17A-3-12b(a), reads as follows:

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