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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Respondents contend that their security interest in both the real estate (which is not in dispute) and the manufactured home was perfected upon the recording of the Deed of Trust in the office of the Clerk of the Brooke County Commission. The Deed of Trust specifically describes both the real estate and the manufactured home. Neither Chapter 17A nor Chapter 46 of the West Virginia Code prohibit perfection of a security interest in a manufactured home by the recording of a deed of trust describing the manufactured home that has been affixed to the real estate. Stated alternatively, neither of those statutory provisions provide the sole means of perfection of a security interest in an affixed manufactured home.

Just as West Virginia law does not dictate only one means for perfection of a security interest in a manufactured home, West Virginia law, Chapter 17A in particular, does not dictate only one means for a manufactured home to become affixed to the real estate. In addition to the procedure for affixing a manufactured home by cancellation of its certificate of title in WV Code §17A-3-12b, a manufactured home may also be considered affixed through application of West Virginia common law as set forth in *Snuffer v. Spangler*, 79 W.Va. 628, 92 S.E. 106 (1917).

While it appears that there are no published West Virginia decisions addressing the specific question before this Court, the limited number of cases relevant to the question support Respondents' position as opposed to the Petitioner's overly strict reading of Chapters 17A and 46 of the West Virginia Code.

Finally, the policy considerations presented by Petitioner to support his position are not persuasive and certainly do not justify a result that is contrary to the application of the relevant statutes and case law.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

The Court scheduled an oral argument on this matter in its January 30, 2020,

Order accepting the certified question. Respondents are in full agreement with the Court

and Petitioner that oral argument would be beneficial to the Court in its ruling on the

legal question that has not previously been addressed in a published decision.

ARGUMENT

I. NEITHER CHAPTER 17A NOR CHAPTER 46 OF THE WEST VIRGINIA CODE PROVIDE THE SOLE MEANS OF PERFECTION OF A SECURITY INTEREST IN AN AFFIXED MANUFACTURED HOME.

Petitioner's Complaint seeks a finding that Respondents failed to perfect their security interest in the manufactured home¹ because they did not perfect their security interest pursuant to Chapter 17A of the West Virginia Code, in conjunction with Chapter 46, specifically, WV Code §46-9-303. Petitioner's argument is that compliance with Chapter 17A, along with WV Code §46-9-303, is the sole means by which a secured creditor may perfect a security interest in a manufactured home. However, there is no statute or case law that supports Petitioner's argument for such a strict reading of Chapter 17A or West Virginia's security interest perfection rules in general.

After setting forth the manner in which security interests in real estate are perfected,

Petitioner implies that WV Code §46-9-303 requires compliance with Chapter 17A in order to

perfect a security interest in a manufactured home. On the contrary, the statute makes no

reference to Chapter 17A and is silent as to perfection of security interests. WV Code §46-9-303

is simply a choice of law provision. Subsection (a) provides that the statute applies to goods

covered by a certificate of title and subsection (b) explains when goods are considered to be

covered by a certificate of title. Finally, subsection (c) is the choice of law section and provides

that the law of the jurisdiction that issued the certificate of title governs perfection. The only

¹ Petitioner's brief refers to the manufactured home as a doublewide and the facts stipulated by the parties makes reference to both manufactured home and doublewide. Additionally, the certificates of title for the manufactured home refer to it as a fabricated home. All of these terms are acceptable descriptions of the property at issue and use of one term or another makes no substantive difference as to application of the relevant law in this case. See WV Code §17A-1-1(pp), (qq), and (rr) defining factory built home, manufactured home and mobile home; see also Russell v. Town of Granville, n. 3, 237 W.Va. 9, 784 S.E.2d 336 (2016)(discussing the various terms and lack of distinctions between them).

result from applying this statute to the facts of this case is confirmation that West Virginia law governs perfection of the security interest. That is not in dispute.

Petitioner next relies upon WV Code §17A-4A-3 for the proposition that a lien on a manufactured home can only be perfected by notation on the certificate of title. WV Code §17A-4A-3(b) provides:

Notwithstanding any other provision of this code to the contrary, and subject to the provisions of subsection (c) of this section, any lien or encumbrance placed on a vehicle by the voluntary act of the owner shall be void as against: (i) Any lien creditor who, without knowledge of the lien, acquires by attachment, levy or otherwise a lien thereupon, unless the lien or encumbrance is noted on the certificate of title, a filed application for certificate of title or the notice of lien authorized in section four of this article; and (ii) any purchaser who, without knowledge of the lien or encumbrance, purchases the vehicle, unless the lien or encumbrance is noted on the certificate of title, a filed application for certificate of title or the notice of lien authorized in section four of this article: Provided, That a purchaser under this subsection who purchases the vehicle without knowledge of the lien or encumbrance and contemporaneously obtains actual physical possession of the vehicle and the certificate of title for the vehicle without the lien or encumbrance noted on the certificate of title, receives the vehicle free and clear of the lien or encumbrance.

Thus, if a lien is voluntarily "placed on a **vehicle**," the lien only has priority over other lien creditors or purchasers, without notice, if the lien is properly noted. Significantly for the question before the Court, the statute makes no reference to manufactured homes, only vehicles. WV Code §17A-1-1(a) defines a vehicle as, "every device in, upon or by which any person or property is or may be transported or drawn upon a highway," The West Virginia Legislature specifically defined "vehicle" using this fact-based definition rather than a blanket statement defining a vehicle as any device for which a certificate of title has been issued.

Petitioner does not address the plain statutory language of WV Code §17A-4A-3 that makes it applicable to only a "vehicle" which is defined by §17A-1-1(a) and assumes that a manufactured home is necessarily a vehicle for lien perfection purposes. However, if a

manufactured home is not a vehicle, as defined by §17A-1-1(a), WV Code §17A-4A-3 is not controlling as to the perfection of a security interest in the home. For purposes of the question before this Court, Petitioner is not contesting that the manufactured home is physically affixed to the real estate for all intents and purposes. *See* Joint App., p. 223 and 226. Obviously, a manufactured home that is physically affixed to real estate cannot be transported or drawn upon a highway and is, therefore, not a vehicle as defined by WV Code §17A-1-1(a).

Petitioner's view that a secured creditor can only perfect its secured interest in a manufactured home by complying with WV Code §17A-4A-3 is not supported by the plain language of the statute. Nowhere in that statute or in any other statute cited by Petitioner does its state that a lien in a manufactured home with a certificate of title can only be perfected by notation of the lien on the certificate of title.

The legislature could easily have provided such a requirement had it expressly so stated. For example, in Kentucky, KRS 186A.190(1) provides in pertinent part that, "the perfection and discharge of a security interest in any property for which has been issued a Kentucky certificate of title shall be by notation on the certificate of title." (Emphasis supplied). See Hiers v. Bank One, West Virginia, Williamson, N.A., 946 S.W.2d 196 (Ky.App. 1997)(holding that statute provided sole means for perfecting lien even if mobile home had been affixed). If West Virginia's statutes included the same language as the Kentucky statute, Respondents would not have any grounds to assert the perfection of their lien. But, WV Code §17A-4A-3 does not use that same language. In contrast, West Virginia's statute provides for perfection of a security interest in a vehicle by notation on the certificate of title, not any property that is covered by a certificate of title. It is a well-settled rule of statutory construction, "that significance and effect must, if possible, be given to every section, clause, word or part of the statute." Meadows v. Wal-

Mart Stores, Inc., 207 W.Va. 203, 214, 530 S.E.2d 676, 687 (1999) quoting State v. General Daniel Morgan Post No. 548, V.F.W., 144 W.Va. 137, 147, 107 S.E.2d 353, 359 (1959)(citations omitted). If the reference to "vehicle" in WV Code §17-A-4A-3 and its definition in WV Code §17A-1-1(a) are to be given "significance and effect," then Respondents' reading of the statutes must be prevail.

WV Code §17A-4A-3 does not provide the sole means by which a security interest may be perfected in a manufactured home affixed to real estate. Likewise, WV Code §17A-3-12b is not the sole means by which a manufactured home can be considered affixed to real estate.

II. COMPLIANCE WITH WV CODE §17A-3-12b IS NOT REQUIRED FOR A MANUFACTURED HOME TO BE CONSIDERED AFFIXED TO REAL ESTATE.

Petitioner recognizes, as he must, that a manufactured home can become affixed to real estate under certain circumstances and, once affixed, a security interest in that home is perfected by the recording of a deed of trust. However, Petitioner again relies on an unreasonably narrow reading of a statute in arguing that compliance with WV Code §17A-3-12b is required in order to affix a manufactured home to real estate.

The first sentence of the statute makes clear that it is not the sole means by which a manufactured home may be affixed to real estate, "[t]he commissioner <u>may</u> cancel a certificate of title for a mobile or manufactured home <u>affixed</u> to the real property of the owner of the mobile or manufactured home." WV Code §17A-3-12b(a)(emphasis supplied). The use of "may" indicates the process is optional while the reference to a manufactured home already "affixed" to real estate indicates that cancellation of the title is not necessary for affixing a manufactured home to real estate. The remainder of WV Code §17A-3-12b(a) sets forth the process for cancellation of a certificate of title and the effect of cancellation. Nowhere in the statute does it

expressly state or even imply that it provides the sole means for affixing a manufactured home to real estate so that it is treated as a fixture.

Respondents' reading of WV Code §17A-3-12b(a) is entirely consistent with their reading of WV Code §17A-4A-3. If notation of a lien on a certificate of title is not required for perfection of a security interest in a manufactured home that is not a vehicle as defined by WV Code §17A-1-1(a), it follows that cancellation of the certificate of title under WV Code §17A-3-12b(a) is not required for the manufactured home to be affixed.

Respondents have demonstrated that the plain language of the relevant statutes does not support Petitioner's position that the statutes provide the sole means either to perfect a security interest in a manufactured home or to affix a manufactured home to real estate. Additionally, the few court decisions that have addressed issues related to the question before the Court support Respondents' position.

III. CASE LAW RELEVANT TO THE QUESTION BEFORE THE COURT SUPPORTS RESPONDENTS' READING OF THE STATUTES RELIED UPON BY PETITIONER.

Respondents are not aware of any published decisions in West Virginia that directly address the question before the Court. However, a memorandum opinion issued by this Court in 2018 held that a manufactured home could be affixed to real estate without cancellation of the certificate of title. *See Sanders v. Brown*, No. 18-0017, 2018 WL 6119215 (W.Va. Supreme Court, November 21, 2018)(memorandum decision). The appellant in *Sanders* argued that the circuit court erred in finding that her conveyance of real estate to her son included the manufactured home for which she held a certificate of title in her name. This Court specifically rejected the argument that WV Code §17A-3-12b was dispositive of whether a manufactured was affixed and upheld the circuit court's application of the "long-standing" common law

standard for determining whether property is a fixture set forth in *Snuffer v. Spangler*, 79 W.Va. 628, 92 S.E. 106, 110 (1917). *Id.* at *5. The Court went on to affirm the circuit court's ruling that the manufactured home had been transferred as a fixture along with the real estate. *Id.* Reaching the result in *Sanders* necessarily requires the same reading of WV Code §17A-3-12b that Respondents present in Section II., *supra*,-- the statute does not provide the sole means by which a manufactured home can be affixed to real estate.

The U.S. Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of West Virginia also agreed with Respondents' reading of the statute in its decision in *In re Weikle*, Case No. 17-10001, 2017 WL 4127994 (Bankr. S. D. W. Va., September 13, 2017)(unpublished decision). The case involved a dispute between the debtors and creditor as to whether creditor's secured claim could be modified under the anti-modification provisions of 11 U.S.C. §1322(b)(2). The dispute turned on whether the manufactured home was personal or real property. Rather than decide the issue based on any particular statute, the bankruptcy court, just as this Court did in *Sanders*, applied the standards for determining whether property is a fixture set forth in *Snuffer*, *supra*. *Id*. at *3. In footnote 3, the bankruptcy court specifically rejected the argument that WV Code §17A-3-12b(a) provides the sole means by which a manufactured home could become a fixture, "[h]ad the Legislature intended such a far-reaching result, it would have unquestionably used more sweeping language." *Id*. at n.3.

While neither of the decisions cited are binding precedence, they do illustrate that two different courts applying West Virginia law came to the same conclusion as Respondents; namely, that compliance with WV Code §17A-3-12b(a) is not required to affix a manufactured home to real estate. In contrast, none of the decisions cited by Petitioner support his overly strict

reading of the statues governing perfection of security interests and affixing of a manufactured home.

The issue in *Dodson v. One Valley Bank, (In re Johnson)*, 105 B.R. 352 (Bankr.S.D. W.Va. 1989), aff'd 4 F.3d 985 (4th Cir.1993), cited by Petitioner, was whether a lien in a manufactured home could be perfected by a UCC filing rather than a lien notated on the certificate title. The Court determined that the UCC filing was not sufficient and that the lien must be notated on the certificate of title. Whether or not a deed of trust encumbering real estate on which the manufactured home is affixed is sufficient to perfect a lien was not at issue in the case. Significantly, the Court stated that, [e]vidence suggesting placement of the mobile home upon the land **would be relevant if the defendant were asserting that the vehicle had become a fixture** which would be governed by different perfection requirements," *Id.* at 355 (emphasis supplied). *Dodson* simply has no relevance to the question before the Court since the affixing of a manufactured home to real estate was not at issue.

Petitioner next cites *Ennis v. Green Tree Servicing, LLC*, 558 F.3d 343 (4th Cir.2009), a United States Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit case involving the same bankruptcy issue considered in *In re Weikle, supra. Ennis* provides no guidance on the question before the Court since it was decided based on application of Virginia statutory law and the homeowners did not even own the lot on which the manufactured home sat. For these reasons, the bankruptcy court for the Southern District of West Virginia in *In re Weikle* easily distinguished *Ennis* and refused to rely upon it.

Respondents recognize that the *Sanders* memorandum decision from this Court and the *In* re Weikle bankruptcy decision as unpublished decisions carry limited precedential value, however, the cases cited by Petitioner have zero relevance to the stipulated facts and applicable

statutes cited by the parties. The holdings in both *Sanders* and *In re Weikle* directly reject Petitioner's overly strict interpretation and fully support Respondents' arguments in Section II., *supra*.

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